# CHEMUNG COUNTY LIBRARY DISTRICT

# BYLAWS (document #2007-50)

## **ARTICLE I**

## **NAME**

This corporation, created by Absolute Charter No. 24086 by the Regents of the University of the State of New York under Section 255 of the New York State Education Law shall be known as the Chemung County Library District.

## **ARTICLE II**

## **PURPOSE**

The purpose of the Chemung County Library District shall be severalfold:

- 1.) To adhere to all laws of the State of New York applicable to public libraries including Open Meetings Law and Section 18 of the New York State Public Officers Law;
- 2.) To maintain facilities located throughout Chemung County.

## **ARTICLE III**

## **BOARD OF TRUSTEES**

- **Section 1**. The property, affairs and concerns of the Corporation shall be vested in a Board of Trustees, as dictated by Legislative Act 5321-A/8116-A of the State of New York. The Board shall consist of fifteen (15) residents of Chemung County duly elected by a public ballot, on from each of the fifteen (15) Chemung County Legislative Districts.
- **Section 2.** The Board of Trustees shall be responsible for developing policies, assuring adequate financing and money management, improving public relations and planning and evaluating programs toward established goals.
- **Section 3.** The Board of Trustees shall be responsible for hiring a competent, professional and responsible Library Director in conjunction with Civil Service Regulations, ALA Certification, and NYS Licensing Rules.
- **Section 4.** As set out in Leg. Act 5321-A/8116-A, five Trustees shall be elected by public ballot each year to serve a three-year term, commencing on January 1<sup>st</sup> of that year and ending December 31<sup>st</sup> of the third year served. Only qualified voters of the district shall be eligible for election to the Board of Trustees.
- **Section 5**. Candidates for the office of member of the Board of Trustees of the Chemung County Library District shall be nominated by petition. A separate petition shall be required to nominate each candidate for a vacancy on the Board. The candidate receiving the largest number of votes in an election district shall be elected to fill the vacancy on the Board occurring in such election district. In the event there are no candidates from an election district, the Board of Trustees may appoint a qualified voter from the election district to serve on the Board until the next annual district election.
- **Section 6.** If a Trustee doesn't complete his/her term, a qualified resident of that election district may be appointed by majority vote of the remaining Trustees, to serve until the next regularly scheduled Trustee

election. Any Trustee can resign at any time and any such resignation shall be effective upon delivery thereof in writing to the Corporation without necessity for acceptance by the Board. Any Trustee who is absent for three consecutive meetings without excuse accepted as satisfactory by the trustees shall be deemed to have resigned and the vacancy shall be filled.

**Section 7.** As set out in Leg. Act 5321-A/8116-A, no trustee shall serve more than nine consecutive years.

**Section 8.** The Board of Trustees shall determine a proposed budget to submit to the voters annually. All future budgets that increase or decrease the appropriation last approved by the voters shall be submitted by the Board of Trustees to the residents of the library district for approval by a majority of those residents voting at the annual election. The Board of Trustees shall annually file with the Clerk of the County of Chemung an estimate of the budget to be raised by levy for the library district for the following fiscal year. The Board of Trustees of the Chemung County Library District may accept on behalf of the district any absolute gift, devise or bequest of real or personal property and such conditional gifts, devises or bequests as it shall approve by resolution.

#### **ARTICLE IV**

## **MEETINGS**

**Section 1**. Meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held on the third Thursday of each month 12 times per annum at times to be established by the Board. All Board meetings will be publicized and are open to the public.

**Section 2.** A special meeting may be called by the President or by any eight Trustees. A public notice will be given for any special meeting.

**Section 3.** A quorum consisting of eight Trustees must be present in order to conduct a meeting.

**Section 4.** Prior to each meeting, all members of the Board shall be sent a copy of the agenda, a copy of the minutes of the preceding meeting and all other supporting documents. The following agenda shall take precedence at regular meetings:

Call to Order

Pledge of Allegiance

Approval of Minutes

Treasurer's Report

Report of receipts and disbursements

Warrants

Correspondence

President's Report

Director's Report

Committee Reports

Old Business

**New Business** 

Period for Public Expression

Adjournment

**Section 5.** An Executive Session may be called at any time during a regular Board meeting by any Trustee by means of a motion to go into closed or executive Session. As directed by the New York State Public Officers Law, Section 105 (1), the motion must identify the "general area or areas of the subject or subjects to be considered."

**Section 6.** As required by Section 105 of the New York State Public Officers Law, attendance at an executive session shall be permitted to all Trustees and to any other persons approved by the Board, unless a trustee is the subject of the executive session, in which case the trustee could be excluded.

#### ARTICLE V

#### **OFFICERS**

- **Section 1.** Legislative Act 5321-A/8116-A states that the Board of Trustees, at its first meeting each fiscal year shall elect or appoint a President, and Vice President, who shall be members of the Board and a Secretary, Treasurer and such other officers as they deem necessary. If the Board so determines, the offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be held by individuals who are not members of the Board of Trustees, and in that event, such officer may, if the Board so determines, receive compensation as fixed by resolution of the Board.
- **Section 2.** The President shall preside at meetings of the Board. The President shall execute all documents approved by the Board. The President shall appoint members of all committees and shall be ex-officio member of all committees, shall authorize calls for special meetings, shall sign official documents and shall perform all other duties of a presiding officer.
- **Section 3.** The Vice President shall, in the absence of the President, perform the functions and have the powers and duties of the President.
- Section 4. The Secretary shall assure the maintenance of all the records of the Board, including the minutes of all Board meetings. The Secretary shall also handle all Board correspondence, gather Trustees Handbooks from retiring Board members and update said handbooks for new members by the annual organizational meeting. The Secretary shall be responsible for the collection and filing of all nominating petitions for election to the Board with the County Board of Elections not later than the thirty-sixth day preceding the election at which time the candidates nominated are to be elected.

  Section 5. The Treasurer of the Chemung County Library District shall be custodian of all funds of the library district including gifts and trust funds paid over to the Trustees. The Treasurer shall, if required by the Board of Trustees, give the Board such security bond for the faithful discharge of his/her duties as the Board may direct. Any premiums incurred for such a Bond shall be paid by the District. The Board of Trustees may authorize the investment of funds in the custody of the Treasurer. No moneys shall be disbursed by the Treasurer of the Library District except after review and approval by the Board of Trustees. The Treasurer shall keep such records in such manner as the Board of Trustees may require. The Treasurer shall serve as the Chairperson of the Budget and Finance Committee.

#### **ARTICLE VI**

## **COMMITTEES**

- **Section 1.** The President may appoint special committees at any time from among the Trustees, and the President shall appoint all committee Chairpersons from among their number.
- **Section 2.** All committee appointments expire with the call to order of the January organizational meeting.
- **Section 3.** There shall be four Standing Committees: Executive Committee, Personnel Committee; Budget and Finance Committee, and Buildings and Grounds Committee. The functions of the standing committees, in addition to matters that may be referred to them by the Board from time to Time are as follows:
- a. The Executive Committee shall consist of the Officers of the District and the immediate Past President, if such person is otherwise eligible and serving as a Trustee on the Board. This Committee

shall perform the functions of the Board of Trustees in the management of the affairs of the District during the intervals between meetings of the Board. All actions of the Executive Committee shall be reported at the next meeting of the Board. The Executive Committee shall annually review the current Bylaws. The Executive Committee shall not have authority as to the following matters:

- (1) Any action specifically required by the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws, or the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law to be taken by the full Board of Trustees;
- (2) The filling of vacancies on the Board of Trustees or in any committee;
- (3) The amendment or repeal of the Bylaws or the adoption of new Bylaws;
- (4) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board by which the terms shall not be amendable or repealable.
- b. The Personnel Committee shall from time to time recommend to the Board, after consulting with the Library Director to the extent appropriate, policies and practices regarding staff, including without limitation, salaries, fringe benefits, job descriptions, leaves and terminations. This Committee shall receive at the annual organizational meeting and shall review an annual report from the Library Director on staff performance. This Committee shall review the performance as well as the compensation and employee benefits of the Library Director on at least an annual basis and submit a report to the Board prior to the preparation of the annual Budget. Such policies shall be implemented by the Library Director.
- c. The Budget and Finance Committee shall work with the Library Director in preparing an annual budget and submitting the budget estimate to be raised by levy to the County Clerk annually as well as to the voters for approval at the annual election. Expenditures not provided for in the annual Budget shall not be made without Board approval. Profit and loss statements for the preceding month shall be contained in monthly reports to the Board. This Committee shall work with the auditors for the District in preparing annual financial reports. In general the financial status of the District shall be monitored by this Committee and recommendations made to the Board after consideration of, among other matters, the proposed budget of the Director and recommendations of other committees.
- d. The Buildings and Grounds Committee shall submit a recommendation based on facility evaluation, for capital improvement funds to be established by the Budget and Finance Committee and the Board of Trustees. This Committee shall also review, oversee and make recommendations concerning matters pertaining to the various facilities and properties owned by the District.
- **Section 4.** All formal recommendations of a committee shall be in a report to the Board. All committees, except the Executive Committee, are advisory only, and may proceed in carrying out any recommended action only in accordance with a resolution of the Board.
- **Section 5.** Each committee shall have at least three members.
- **Section 6.** The Library Director shall be notified of all committee meetings and given an opportunity to attend, unless otherwise provided by the Board. Subject to a Board request to consider a matter, each committee shall set its own schedule and meet according to its needs.

#### **ARTICLE VII**

## **MISCELLANEOUS**

- **Section 1.** The fiscal year of the Library District shall be January 1 through December 31.
- **Section 2.** *Robert's Rules of Order* shall prevail in the event of procedural disputes.
- **Section 3.** As required by New York State Education Law, Section 226, "no rule by which more than a majority vote shall be required for any specified action by the Trustees shall be amended, suspended or repealed by a smaller vote than that required for action thereunder.:

**Section 4.** Every Trustee, Officer, Director of the District shall be indemnified by the Library District to the fullest extent provided by New York State Law. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of any other right to which such person may be entitled.

# **ARTICLE VIII**

# **AMENDMENTS**

**Section 1.** An amendment to the Bylaws may be proposed by any Trustee. Such an amendment shall be valid after a majority vote at a regular Board meeting. Such amendments may be adopted only after they have been presented at a prior regular Board meeting and included on the Agenda for the meeting when the vote is to take place.

These Bylaws supersede those approved December 1, 2005, revised and approved by vote on May 17, 2007